#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

JEB BUSH, Governor of the State of Florida,

Appellant,

**CASE NO.: SC04-925** 

v.

MICHAEL SCHIAVO, as Guardian of the Person of THERESA MARIE SCHIAVO,

Appellee.

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT JEB BUSH, GOVERNOR OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

KENNETH L. CONNOR Florida Bar No. 146298 CAMILLE GODWIN Florida Bar No. 974323 Wilkes & McHugh, P.A. One North Dale Mabry, Suite 800 Tampa, Florida 33609 Phone: (813) 873-0026

Facsimile: (813) 872-1836

Counsel for Appellant

### **

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This appeal follows from a May 17, 2004 order of the Court for the Sixth Judicial Circuit granting Summary Final Judgment in favor of Appellee Michael Schiavo, finding Ch. 2003-418, Laws of Florida, unconstitutional and finding Executive Order No. 03-201 void and of no legal effect. Throughout this Brief, Appellant Jeb Bush, Governor of the State of Florida, shall be referred to as "the Governor," or "Appellant," and Appellee, Michael Schiavo, Guardian of the Person of Theresa Marie Schiavo, shall be referred to as "Schiavo" or "Appellee." The ward, Theresa Marie Schiavo, shall be referred to as "Terri," and references to the record will be cited as "(R. \_\_\_\_)."

#### STATEMENT OF THE STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for an order granting summary judgment is de novo. *Volusia County v. Aberdeen at Ormond Beach, L.P.*, 760 So. 2d 126, 130 (Fla. 2000). Further, because the order at issue has determined that a legislative enactment is unconstitutional, unlike other final orders, it does not arrive at this Court cloaked with a presumption of correctness. To the contrary, this Court must presume Ch. 2003-418 to be constitutional. *Larsen v. Lesser*, 106 So. 2d 188, 191 (Fla. 1958). The standard of review of a finding of unconstitutionality of a statute is de novo. *Caribbean Conservation Corp. v. Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission*, 838 So. 2d 492, 500 (Fla. 2003); *North Florida* 

Women's Health and Counseling Svcs., Inc. v. State, 866 So. 2d 612 (Fla. 2003); Glendale Federal Savings and Loan v. Dept. of Insurance, 485 So. 2d 1321, 1323 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1986), rev. denied, 494 So. 2d 1150 (Fla. 1986).

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 21, 2003, Schiavo filed a Petition for Declaratory Judgment and Request for Temporary Injunction in the Circuit Court of the Sixth Judicial Circuit, Pinellas County. (R. 1-10). Schiavo's action challenges the constitutionality of Chapter 2003-418, Laws of Florida. (R. 2).

On December 22, 2003, the Governor filed a Petition for Writ of *Certiorari* to the Second District Court of Appeal based on the circuit court's grant of Schiavo's motion for protective order precluding the Governor from taking discovery in the underlying cause. *Bush v. Schiavo*, 866 So. 2d 136, 137 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004). The Petition alleged the trial court erred by not requiring Schiavo to establish good cause for the requested relief. *Id.* at 138. Absent the discovery requested, the Governor argued he would be foreclosed from developing and presenting evidence to defend against the claims of unconstitutionality and would be unable to establish a factual record from which an appellate court could review the decisions made by the circuit court. *Id.* 

The Second District granted the Petition for Writ of *Certiorari* on February 13, 2004. *Id.* at 140. In granting the Writ, the Second District agreed the circuit court

erred by not requiring Schiavo to demonstrate good cause to prevent the depositions sought by the Governor. *Id.* at 138. The Second District also directed the circuit court to conduct an inquiry into "the parties' legal arguments concerning the status of the adjudicated facts as a subject of further inquiry." *Id.* at 139-140. However, on May 5, 2004, the circuit court again granted Schiavo's motion for a protective order, again precluding discovery. (R. 1347-1351). On the same date, the circuit court also granted Schiavo's Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. 1324-1346). Pursuant to Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(b)(1)(A), the Governor then filed a Notice of Appeal on May 6, 2004. (R. 1352-1376). On June 16, 2004, pursuant to the authority of Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(B), this Court accepted jurisdiction.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On February 25, 1990, Terri Schiavo had a cardiac arrest and subsequent loss of oxygen to her brain, which led to serious brain damage. (R. 25). The guardianship court determined that she is in a "persistent vegetative state." (R. 1388). Since May of 1998, Schiavo has sought to discontinue the provision of food and water to Terri, presently delivered to her through a tube. (R. 25). It is uncontroverted that removal of this tube will inevitably kill her by starvation and dehydration. *Id.* Schiavo's efforts to deny basic sustenance to his estranged wife

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>On May 12, 2004, the Second District found the May 5, 2004 order not sufficiently final and relinquished jurisdiction for entry of a final order. On May 14, 2004, the circuit court entered a Summary Final Judgment. (R.1377-1399). The Governor filed a Notice of Appeal as to that order on May 17, 2004.

have sparked substantial legal controversy. See Bush v. Schiavo, 866 So. 2d at 138 n.1.

It is undisputed that Terri had no written advance directive. (R. 574; 607). It is also undisputed that her parents have vigorously resisted Schiavo's efforts to end their daughter's life through starvation or dehydration. (R. 606-608; 1220-1232); See also, Schindler v. Schiavo, 780 So. 2d 176 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001) ("Schiavo I"); Schindler v. Schiavo, 792 So. 2d 551 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001) ("Schiavo II"); Schindler v. Schiavo, 800 So. 2d 640 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001) ("Schiavo III"); and Schindler v. Schiavo, 851 So. 2d 182 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003) ("Schiavo IV"). Her parents continue to vigorously contest the continued appropriateness of Schiavo to serve as Terri's guardian and on April 26, 2004, successfully petitioned the guardianship court for a Writ of *Quo Warranto* seeking to have Schiavo establish the lawfulness of his actions as Terri's guardian.<sup>2</sup> Her parents also contend that Terri, while admittedly disabled due to brain damage, is able to recognize her parents, track with her eyes and is a candidate for swallowing therapy which, if successful, may eliminate the need for a feeding tube at all. (R. 1009-1013); Schiavo I at 178.; Schiavo III at 643-644.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Petition is attached as an exhibit to the Governor's Motion to Stay Appeal Proceedings Pending Resolution of Writ of Quo Warranto Directed to Michael Schiavo, filed in this appeal proceeding with the Second District on June 1, 2004.

Terri does not have a terminal illness and her death is not imminent. *Schiavo I* at 180. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Pinellas County Circuit Judge George W. Greer found that Terri was in a persistent vegetative state and on February 11, 2000, authorized removal of the tube providing her with food and water. (R. 67-76); *Schiavo II* at 554-555. Further, despite the fact that her husband had an admitted conflict of interest when he sought permission to end her life (he was the sole beneficiary of her estate), at the time the order was entered authorizing her starvation and dehydration, Terri had no independent advocate. (R. 67-70). On October 15, 2003, Terri's feeding tube was withdrawn. (R. 1388-1389).

On October 21, 2003, the Florida Legislature, apprehending the irrevocable harm likely to result from the withdrawal of food and water to disabled people unable to express their healthcare choices, enacted Ch. 2003-418, a narrowly tailored law authorizing the Governor to issue a one time stay preventing withholding of food and water from an individual if, as of October 15, 2003:

- a) The patient has no written advance directive;
- b) The court has found the patient to be in a persistent vegetative state:
- c) The patient has had nutrition and hydration withheld; and
- d) A member of the patient's family has challenged the withholding of nutrition and hydration.

Ch. 2003-418, Sec. 1 and 2. The Act also provides that "upon issuance of a stay, the chief judge of the Circuit shall appoint a guardian *ad litem* for the patient to make recommendations to the Governor and the court." Ch. 2003-418, Sec. 3.

On October 21, 2003, Governor Bush, pursuant to the authority of the Act, issued a stay to prevent the withholding of nutrition and hydration from Terri. (R. 587-588). After enduring six days with no food or water, Terri was once again provided with basic sustenance. (R. 479, 600). Schiavo then filed his Petition seeking to have the Act declared unconstitutional. In opposition, the Governor filed a number of affidavits and made numerous attempts at obtaining discovery. (R. 669-811; 909-945; 948-976; 981-1116; 1123-1165; 1214-1215; 1296-1298; 1315-1316; 1320-1321; 1493).

On May 6, 2004, the circuit court held the Act unconstitutional. (R. 1324-1346). Notwithstanding the Governor's contention that Terri's wishes were in dispute, the Governor was not afforded the benefit of discovery, an evidentiary hearing, or the jury trial he emphatically and repeatedly demanded. (R. 152-154; 337-340; 400-402; 483-485; 571-572; 574-579; 580-584; 901-908; 1170-1199; 1214-1215; 1296-1314).

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Florida's legislative, executive and judicial branches play co-equal roles in protecting the lives and health care choices of persons who, by disability, are especially vulnerable to the consequences of abuse, exploitation or mistake. The circuit court erred in ignoring this co-equal role and entering summary judgment

declaring the Act unconstitutional without permitting the Governor discovery or a jury trial to determine disputed material facts.

Instead of adhering to such fundamental procedural safeguards, the circuit court erroneously substituted "judicial notice" of orders entered in cases to which the Governor was not a party and which involved factual issues not identical to those in this case. In so doing, the court misapplied concepts of *res judicata* and collateral estoppel to recognize as adjudicated "facts" found in guardianship proceedings not involving the Governor.

A finding of an infringement on the "right to privacy" requires adjudication of facts. The trial court erred in failing to require Schiavo to establish by competent, substantial evidence that the Act infringed upon Terri's right to privacy. Such proof required, at a minimum, that Schiavo submit admissible evidence that under the present circumstances Terri wants to be deprived of food and water. This, he did not do. Moreover, even assuming such proof, the Act serves compelling state interests in the least restrictive means possible.

In re Guardianship of Browning, 568 So. 2d 4 (Fla. 1990), does not dictate the outcome of this case. Subsequent to the legislature's enactment of Chapter 765, Florida Statutes, its limited holding establishes only that the right to privacy encompasses end of life decisions for incapacitated persons. Any extension of that holding to the instant case rests on mere dictum. Because *Browning* does not

preordain the result in this case, the legislature acted well within its constitutional authority in promulgating the Act. As a further refinement of the guardianship and end of life provisions of Chapters 765 and 744, Florida Statutes, the Act in no way impermissibly interferes with judicial authority. Nor does it encroach on an existing judicial order. Of necessity, such orders are inherently executory and never "final" in the traditional sense.

The Act was a valid delegation of power to the Governor. Although some discretion was vested in the Governor, the legislature made the ultimate policy decision by promulgating the Act. The Act provided definitive guidelines for its implementation by the Executive.

This Court should reverse the summary judgment of the trial court, permit the Governor to take discovery and require a jury trial on all disputed material facts. Any other result violates due process under the Florida and federal constitutions.

#### **ARGUMENT**

- I. The Circuit Court Misused And Misapplied Judicial Notice To Bypass The Elements Required For Application Of Collateral Estoppel And Res Judicata And Thereby Denied The Governor The Due Process Necessary To Defend The Constitutionality Of The Act.
  - A. Summary Judgment Must Be Denied Where Issues Of Material Fact Remain For Resolution.

The question of the constitutionality of a statute "is an issue of law, or of mixed fact and law, depending upon the nature of the statute brought into question and the scope of its threatened operation as against the party attacking the statute." Lykes Bros., Inc. v. Board of Com'rs of Everglades Drainage Dist., 41 So. 2d 898 (Fla. 1949); North Florida, 866 So. 2d at 626 (Fla. 2003). Factual questions precluded entry of summary judgment, because, in this case, the constitutionality of the statute is a mixed question of law and fact. Glendale Federal Savings and Loan Association v. Department of Insurance, 485 So. 2d 1321, 1324-25 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986). As such, there must be an adequate record developed in the lower court before a fact-finder. State Employees Attorneys' Guild v. State, 653 So. 2d 487 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1995) ("Such a proceeding will permit the development of a record which this court properly may review to decide the issues raised in this case"). As this Court stated in Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services v. Privette, 617 So. 2d 305, 309 (Fla. 1993):

However, a compelling interest does not come into existence in the abstract but must be based on adequate factual allegations and a record establishing that the test itself is in the child's best interests.

As the party moving for summary judgment, Schiavo was required to prove the absence of dispute on genuine issues of material fact. *See Holl v. Talcott*, 191 So.2d 40, 43 (Fla. 1966) (movant must conclusively prove that no genuine issues of material fact exist). Moreover, "[t]he proof must be such as to overcome all reasonable inferences which may be drawn in favor of the opposing party." *Id. See also Medina v. Yoder Auto Sales, Inc.*, 743 So.2d 621 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999) ("[i]f the record reflects the existence of any genuine issue of material fact, or the possibility of any issue, or if the record raises even the slightest doubt that an issue might exist summary judgment is improper"). The record, such as it is, and viewed in a light most favorable to the Governor, is replete with genuine issues of material fact and thus bars the entry of summary judgment.

B. Summary Judgment Must Be Denied Where The Circuit Court Erred In Depriving The Governor Of His Due Process Rights To Conduct Discovery And To Present His Case To A Jury.

As in the case of any other party to civil litigation, the Governor has both procedural and substantive due process rights guaranteed under both Florida and federal law. These rights include the right to discovery, the right to cross-examine witnesses, and the right to a jury trial or an evidentiary hearing with respect to

factual matters. *See*, *e.g.*, Art. 1, § 22, FLA. CONST.; U.S. CONST. amend. VII; U.S. CONST. amend. XIV, § 1; and Rules 1.430 and 1.280, Fla. R. Civ. P.

The fact that the issues in the underlying cause were raised in the form of a declaratory judgment action challenging the constitutionality of a statute does not strip the Governor of fundamental due process rights, nor deprive him of his right to a jury trial. The right to jury trial is expressly preserved in the declaratory judgment statute:

When an action under this chapter concerns the determination of an issue of fact, the issue may be tried as issues of fact are tried in other civil actions in the court in which the proceeding is pending. To settle questions of fact necessary to be determined before judgment can be rendered, the court may direct their submission to a jury. When a declaration of right or the granting of further relief based thereon concerns the determination of issues of fact triable by a jury, the issues may be submitted to a jury in the form of interrogatories, with proper instructions by the court, whether a general verdict is required or not.

FLA. STAT. § 86.07(1); See also Olins, Inc. v. Avis Rent-A-Car System, 131 So. 2d 20, 21 (Fla. 3d DCA 1961) (The right of trial by jury exists as to those issues which were triable before a jury at common law, regardless of the form of proceeding which may be used for their solution.). If a jury found, for example, that it was not Terri's wish to be denied food and water and so informed the court in an interrogatory verdict, the court could then find that her right to privacy was not being infringed, an absolute prerequisite to determining the constitutionality of

the Act. It is the trial court's attempt to circumvent this fact-finding obligation through judicial notice that gives rise to reversible error in this case.

# C. The Circuit Court Erred In Improperly Using Judicial Notice As A Means Of Determining Adjudicative Facts.

At the case management conference the circuit court took judicial notice of several orders entered in the guardianship case pertaining to Terri. (R. 600-604). The Governor did not oppose taking notice that such orders existed, but he contended that taking judicial notice of the orders was not equivalent to having the facts recited therein become adjudicated facts in the instant matter. <sup>3</sup> (R. 602-604; 1180-1184). *See Lee v. Gadasa Corporation*, 680 So. 2d 1107 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1996).

Under the Florida Evidence Code, the circuit court could take judicial notice of its own records or those of another court if the records of the other court were properly submitted. § 90.202, FLA. STAT. (2003). Such notice appropriately includes "the identity of the parties and their counsel, the lower tribunal from which an appeal was taken and the provisions of the order on appeal, issues presented in the briefs, the status of a file within the court, and the dates of orders of the trial and appellate courts." *Gulf Coast Home Health Services of Florida, Inc.* 

court noted that certain stipulations not in that record were agreed to by the Governor and Schiavo in the matter below. These stipulations are a part of this record. (R. 1387-1389).

12

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In the Second District's opinion in *Bush v. Schiavo*, 866 So. 2d at 139 n.2, the court noted that certain stipulations not in that record were agreed to by the

v. Dept. of Health and Rehabilitative Services, 503 So. 2d 415 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987). Judicial notice, however, may never be used as a vehicle to admit otherwise inadmissible hearsay. State v. Ramirez, 850 So. 2d 620 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003). Even if an entire court file is judicially noticed, all documents contained in that court file are still subject to the same rules of evidence to which all evidence must adhere. Burgess v. State, 831 So. 2d 137 (Fla. 2002). As this Court has warned, "the practice of taking judicial notice of adjudicative facts should be exercised with great caution" as "the taking of evidence, subject to established safeguards, is the best way to resolve disputes concerning adjudicative facts." Makos v. Prince, 64 So. 2d 670, 673 (Fla. 1953). Judicial notice may not be used to dispense with proof of essential facts not otherwise judicially cognizable. Amos v. Moseley, 77 So. 619, 623 (Fla. 1917).

In *Huff v. State*, 495 So. 2d 145 (Fla. 1986), this Court considered the appropriateness of a trial court's use of findings from an earlier criminal trial:

In the supplemental findings, the trial court judge stated that he took judicial notice of the *Huff I* proceedings "in fairness to the defendant as well as the state." This interest in fairness is unquestionably laudable and represents perhaps the ultimate goal of our system of justice. However, we find that in a situation such as is presented here, where, upon appellate review an accused has been granted a new trial, the utilization by judicial notice of evidence produced at the first trial constitutes a process which would make facts conclusive against an opposing party although these facts were unsupported by the evidence introduced in the new trial, and were therefore not subject to refutation by the party against whom they were offered. The concept of judicial notice is essentially premised on notions of

convenience to the court and to the parties; some facts need not be proved because knowledge of the facts judicially noticed is so notorious that everyone is assumed to possess it. As we held over a half-century ago, ... the courts should not exclude from their knowledge matters of general and common knowledge which they are presumed to share with the public generally. . . . It has been well said, however that "This power is to be exercised by courts with caution. . . . The courts of the land which are charged with the great responsibility of determining matters **upon which the life and death of a human being may depend,** can well be trusted to exercise the proper caution in determining what matters it will take judicial notice of. It is upon the wisdom and discretion of the judges of our courts, that the doctrine of judicial notice must rest." *Amos v. Mosley*, 74 Fla. 555, 567-68, 77 So. 619, 623 (1917) (emphasis added).

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