#### IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT CASE NO.: SC04-925

JEB BUSH, Governor of the State of Florida,

Appellant,

vs.

MICHAEL SCHIAVO, as Guardian of the person of THERESA MARIE SCHIAVO,

Appellee.

#### **ANSWER BRIEF**

GEORGE J. FELOS Florida Bar No. 226653 FELOS & FELOS, P. A. 595 Main Street Dunedin, FL 34698 (727) 736-1402 RANDALL C. MARSHALL, Legal Director (Fla. Bar No. 0181765) American Civil Liberties Union of Florida 4500 Biscayne Boulevard – Suite 340 Miami, FL 33137-3227 305-576-2337

On certification from the Second

District Court of Appeal

Case No. 2D04-2045

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

Second, Appellant and *amici* claim that the Governor's Executive Order does not nullify a judgment, but rather only "affects the consequences of the judgment." *See Amici* Not Yet Dead at 5.<sup>27</sup> The court's order mandated the removal of the feeding tube and thus any exercise of power compelling the reinsertion of the tube reverses that judgment. Indeed, Senate Staff Analysis and Economic Impact Statement of the Act recognized the statute for what it is:

> This bill implicates separation of powers as it contains provisions that arguably invade the purview of the judicial branch. *See* art. II, s. 3, Fla. Const. Currently, the Governor has no present constitutional or statutory authority to issue a stay on actions relating to the withholding or withdrawal of sustenance or hydration.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup>Regardless of the "kind" of authority at issue, Florida's separation of powers requires that the exercise of any authority affecting constitutional rights be subject to judicial review (<u>R</u> 293) ( "The Legislature regulates executive authority under *parens patriae* by establishing public policy and the judiciary regularly reviews various executive actions taken under *parens patriae* authority. All of these, legislative regulation, executive exercise and judicial review confirm and establish the separation of powers in this area").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> That Ch. 2003-418 calls this power a "stay" does not render it constitutional. The power to issue stays or injunctions, especially those that operate to nullify the decisions of a court, is a judicial power. *See Landis v. North American Co.*, 299 U.S. 248, 254 (1936) ("the power to stay proceedings is incidental to the power inherent in every court"). Under the Florida Constitution, the power to issue writs, such as stays, injunctions, mandamus, or any writ "necessary or proper to the complete exercise of their jurisdiction" is expressly and exclusively committed to the Judicial Branch. Art. V, § 5, Fla. Const. (powers of the Circuit Courts).

Such authority would in effect give the Governor the authority, albeit for a limited time, to override the effect of any court order relating to this matter.

Moreover, the Act itself makes clear that it was intended to interfere with the workings of the court. Ch. 2003-418 does not authorize the Governor to compel nutrition and hydration to *all* Floridians in a persistent vegetative state, regardless of their wishes (which would also be unconstitutional). Rather, it operates solely when a court has already rendered a determination that the individual is in a persistent vegetative state. Further, the statute immunizes all persons "taking action to comply with a stay"–and thereby violating the court's order–from the threat of any punishment. It thus directly interferes with the court's inherent power to enforce its judgments, whether through contempt or otherwise.<sup>28</sup>

Finally, the Governor attempts to defend Ch. 2003-418 by claiming that it is an exercise in prospective lawmaking which adds additional procedures to "protect" Mrs. Schiavo's rights and that the Act does not entail a revision of a judicial decree because legislatures can always alter executory decrees (Gov. Br. at 46). That argument also fails for multiple reasons. First, that is not what Ch. 2003-418 does. Rather than compel a re-adjudication of Mrs. Schiavo's rights by a court of law based on new legislative standards, it strips the courts of all authority and gives that authority – the judicial power to determine Mrs. Schiavo's rights – to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> "Any legislative enactment that purports to do away with the inherent power of contempt directly affects a separate and distinct function of the judicial branch, and, as such, violates the separation of powers doctrine contained in article II, section 3 of the Florida Constitution." *Walker*, 678 So. 2d at 1267; *see also Ex parte Earman*, 95 So. 755, 760 (Fla. 1923).

the Governor with no standards. As such, the Act "relocate[s] by legislative fiat, the coequal powers of the judiciary within the executive branch" in violation of Article II, Section 3. *Chiles*, 589 So. 2d at 268.

Second, Ch. 2003-418 does not provide for new rules of procedure for a court (or anyone) to apply for ascertaining the wishes of a person in a persistent vegetative state. As the trial court recognized, *it provides for no procedures at all* directed toward the answer of this question and sunsets after only 15 days. Nor does the statute provide a new rule of decision to be applied in current or future cases. It does not change the underlying substantive law governing Mrs. Schiavo's rights, nor could it; the Legislature could not create a new substantive rule to govern Mrs. Schiavo's case (or anyone else's) because the right to privacy is derived from the Constitution itself.<sup>29</sup> To the extent that the Legislature has any power to interfere with previously adjudicated rights, it has no power where constitutional rights are at stake. Moreover, even if the statute merely did compel a "re-evaluation," it would still be unlawful. Although a court may itself determine to re-open an issue before it, the legislature cannot compel a court to re-evaluate its decision or re-open a decision. See Trustees Internal Improvement Fund, 10 Fla. at 253.<sup>30</sup> If the Governor's view is correct, the Florida Constitution would bestow

<sup>29</sup> The Governor cites to a variety of legislative enactments that state that a particular court decision was incorrect or purport to overrule court decisions (Gov. Br. at 45-46). All of those statutes, however, operate prospectively. None reopened any adjudication, much less an adjudication of constitutional rights.
<sup>30</sup> The Governor's discovery demand and claim that he is entitled to re-adjudicate Mrs. Schiavo's rights simply highlights the violation of the separation of powers. The Legislature is without authority to compel a re-adjudication of her rights directly, and cannot achieve the same objective by requiring (as Appellant claims)

no rights because the Legislature could force individuals to re-prove their entitlement over and over in an endless game.

In sum, Ch. 2003-418 cannot be squared with the Florida Constitution's firm commitment to the separation of powers or to the fundamental principles that underlie judicial review. If judicial decisions were subject to review, alteration, or suspension by the other Branches, the judicial power – as an independent protector of civil liberties – would be emasculated, only to be replaced by a tyranny of the Legislative and/or Executive Branches.<sup>31</sup> Indeed, the Act destroys this carefully crafted separation of powers in precisely the manner the Framers feared.<sup>32</sup>

# C. Chapter 2003-418 Is an Unlawful Delegation of Legislative Power to the Governor.

Ch. 2003-418 also violates the separation of powers by impermissibly delegating legislative authority to the Governor without standards (<u>R</u> 1378).

It is the province of the Legislature to make the laws. Legislation delegating authority without "objective guidelines and standards," cedes this power, allowing

that she re-prove her wishes to invalidate the statute. That the guardianship court has the power to revisit its judgment pursuant to Rule 1.540(b)(5) does not make the judgment any less "final" for separation-of-powers analysis.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> If the Act passes muster, the Legislature could authorize the Governor to "stay" the effect of any judgment invalidating a statute where there was a dissenting voice or could "stay" the grant of a permit for a peaceful protest, if there were any person who objected to the views the protester intended to express.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Ch. 2003-418 also unlawfully commandeers the Judiciary into providing an advisory opinion. Although this Court may issue advisory opinions in limited circumstances specified by the Constitution, the Florida courts are prohibited from issuing such opinions outside those confines. *See Sarasota-Fruitville Drainage Dist. v. Certain Lands*, 80 So. 2d 335 (Fla. 1955). The Act violates this provision by making the decisions of the courts contingent on the Governor's stay power.

the executive effectively to control both what the law is and to whom it applies. *Smith v. Portante*, 212 So. 2d 298, 299 (Fla. 1968); *Conner v. Joe Hatton, Inc.*, 216 So. 2d 209, 211 (Fla. 1968). Moreover, absent such standards, a reviewing court cannot determine whether action taken pursuant to a statute is valid. *Askew v. Cross Key Waterways*, 372 So. 2d 913, 918 (Fla. 1978); *Fla. State Bd. of Architecture v. Wasserman*, 377 So. 2d 653, 656 (Fla. 1979) ("[T]he discretion that is granted to such an agency must be sufficiently governed by legislative standards as to constitute a judicially reviewable discretion."). For these reasons, Article II, Section 3 requires that legislation provide "standards and guidelines ascertainable by reference to the enactment establishing the program." *Askew*, 372 So. 2d at 925; *Delta Truck Brokers, Inc. v. King*, 142 So. 2d 273, 275 (Fla. 1962); *Bailey v. Van Pelt*, 82 So. 789, 793 (Fla. 1919) (requiring "definite . . . limitations" on any legislative delegation).

Ch. 2003-418 provide no standards to guide the Governor's discretion to stay artificial nutrition and hydration.<sup>33</sup> The Governor has unfettered authority to issue, deny, prolong, or lift a stay for any reason. As such, the Governor does not "flesh out' an articulated legislative policy," but instead "mak[es] the initial determination of what policy should be." *Askew*, 372 So. 2d at 920.<sup>34</sup> Delegating such "unbridled discretion" violates Florida's strict separation of powers. *City of* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Because the statute provides *no* standards whatsoever to the Governor, there can be no dispute that it is unconstitutional in all its applications.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Indeed, the Governor could decline to issue a stay because of a policy choice that the cost of care was not justified by the quality of life of the individual, regardless of her wishes or the desire of the Legislature in enacting the statute.

*Miami*, 107 So. 2d at 388 (invalidating license ordinance for daycare centers "because no guides or standards are set out or even referred to"); *High Ridge Mgmt. Corp. v. State*, 354 So. 2d 377, 380 (Fla. 1977) (invalidating law creating rating system for nursing homes but providing no objective standards).

It is no answer, as the Governor suggests, that the Legislature defined the class of people to which Ch. 2003-418 applies, *i.e.*, patients without an advance directive, whose relatives have objected, whom a court had found to be in a persistent vegetative state, and who have been removed from nutrition and hydration (Gov. Br. at 49). Those factors provide no guidance on *whether* to issue a stay; they merely define the subject matter over which the executive enjoys absolute discretion. The Act is similar to the statute invalidated in *Askew*, which empowered an administrative agency to designate environmental areas of critical state concern. 372 So. 2d at 918-19. Although the statute defined its subject matter, it failed to "establish or provide for establishing priorities or other means for identifying and choosing among the resources the Act [was] intended to preserve." *Id.* at 919 (citation omitted).

The Governor also contends that the statute provides adequate guidance by directing him to ascertain Terri's "present" wishes (Gov. Br. at 48). That argument fails for two reasons. First, nowhere does the statute direct the Governor to ascertain Mrs. Schiavo's wishes or bind the Governor to take action consistent with her wishes. Rather, the statute makes the Governor's wishes paramount – exactly the sort of "unbridled discretion" the Constitution forbids. As the trial court held, the text of Ch. 2003-418 is "crystal clear" (<u>R</u> 1380), and the Governor

37

cannot engraft the provisions of Chapter 765 onto it. *See Holly v. Auld*, 450 So. 2d 217, 219 (Fla. 1984). Second, it is absurd for the Governor to now claim that the Act requires a re-evaluation of Mrs. Schiavo's wishes under "present circumstances." The circumstances under which the Act was passed were the same circumstances the guardianship court faced when it directed the end to artificial methods of prolonging Mrs. Schiavo's life just six days earlier.

The trial court was thus correct in holding that Ch. 2003-418 violates the separation of powers because it grants standardless discretion to the Governor.

## III. THE ACT IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL RETROACTIVE LEGISLATION.

The trial court was also correct in invalidating the statute as unconstitutionally retroactive legislation. Legislation that retroactively abolishes vested rights violates fundamental principles of due process, especially where, as here, those rights have been fully adjudicated in the courts. *See Metro. Dade County v. Chase Fed. Hous. Corp.*, 737 So. 2d 494, 503 (Fla. 1999).

Legislation is retroactive whenever it "'attaches new legal consequences to events completed before its enactment.'" *Id.* at 499 (quoting *Landgraf*, 511 U.S. at 269). Ch. 2003-418 does that in two ways. First, as the trial court found, Ch. 2003-418 deprives Mrs. Schiavo of the rights accruing from the final judgment in the guardianship proceeding. Judicial adjudications, especially of constitutional rights, are vested rights that cannot be impaired. *See R.A.M. of S. Fla., Inc. v. WCI Cmtys., Inc.,* 869 So. 2d 1210, 1220 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004) ("[I]t is impermissible for a statute to be applied to prevent the enforcement of a judgment that was obtained before the effective date of the statute."). Second, even if the guardianship court had not already entered final judgment, the statute nonetheless would be unconstitutionally retroactive because it attaches new legal consequences to the acts that Mrs. Schiavo took to express her wishes. Whereas every other Floridian who, prior to enactment of Ch. 2003-418, orally expressed a desire that artificial means not be used to prolong life had the right to have that desire vindicated by the courts without a written advanced directive, only Mrs. Schiavo is required to have had such an advance directive (something she cannot now execute) to avoid having her right to privacy be subject to the Governor's control.<sup>35</sup>

Having determined that Ch. 2003-418 applied retroactively and interfered with Mrs. Schiavo's vested rights, the trial court properly evaluated the factors this Court has identified for determining whether such legislation is invalid. The impact of the statute on the right and the importance of the right are clear: the statute effectively annuls Mrs. Schiavo's right to privacy, a fundamental right under Florida's Constitution. To counter-balance this invasion, there is no public interest in eviscerating a final adjudication of rights and giving the Governor unfettered

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> To the extent that the statute effectively requires Mrs. Schiavo to have had a written advance directive to avoid subjecting her privacy right to the Governor's veto, it is unconstitutional for the same reasons that Florida courts have invalidated retroactive application of requirements such as the statute of frauds. *See Keith v. Culp*, 111 So. 2d 278, 280-81 (Fla. 1st DCA 1959); *Maison Grande Condominium Ass'n v. Dorten, Inc.*, 600 So. 2d 463 (Fla. 1992) (invalidating retroactive application of a prohibition on certain contracts). *Cf. Chew Heong v. United States*, 112 U.S. 536, 559-60 (1884) (Harlan, J.) (prohibiting retroactive requirement of a certificate to reenter the country which was unavailable when petitioner originally departed).

authority to control the privacy right of one Florida citizen (R 95-96). Finally, the court correctly found that this deprivation was particularly "manifest" because it followed a judicial decree vindicating those rights. (R 96) ("The subject legislation cannot retroactively create in the Governor some previously nonexistent legal interest in controlling Mrs. Schiavo's private medical decisions after those decisions have been fully adjudicated and her rights thereto vested.").

### IV. THE STATUTE VIOLATES A HOST OF OTHER CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS.

Because the trial court invalidated Ch. 2003-418 on multiple grounds, it did not reach the numerous other constitutional arguments raised by Appellee. These additional constitutional infirmities provide alternative grounds for affirmance.

#### A. Ch. 2003-418 Violates the Equal Protection Clause.

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